#### IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

#### SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1701

STATE OF IOWA,

Appellee

VS.

STEVE WILLIAM FORDYCE JR.,

Appellant

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT OF BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE DAVID P. ODEKIRK, JUDGE

### APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

CHRISTOPHER KRAGNES, SR., AT004399 317 6<sup>TH</sup> Avenue, Suite 1300 Des Moines, IA 50309 515-282-9200 E-mail: chris@ktkpc.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### PROOF OF SERVICE

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### I. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT ACT IN SELF-DEFENSE.

## A. There is insufficient evidence presented showing Defense of Self or Others was not Justified.

#### Authorities

State v. Bond, 340 N.W.2d 276, 279 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Elam, 328 N.W.2d 314, 319 (Iowa 1982)

State v Howse, 875 N.W.2d 684, 688 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Keopasaeuth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 640 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Randle, 555 N.W.2d 666, 671 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65, 70 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Showens, 845 N.W.2d 436, 439 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Stallings, 541 N.W.2d 855 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Thornton, 498 N.W.2d 670 (1993)

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 400.1

Iowa Criminal Jury Instructions 400.2

Iowa Code section 704.1

Iowa Code section 704.3

Iowa Code section 704.4

Iowa Code section 704.5

Iowa Code section 704.4

Iowa R. Evidence 5.803(2)

## B. The Trial Court Erred and violated Defendant's Due Process and Equal Protection Under the Law in Not Applying Iowa Code section 704, as amended.

#### **Authorities**

State v. Hagedorn, 679 N.W.2d 666, 669 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Lindell, 828 N.W.2d 1, 12 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Schooner Peggy, 1 Cranch 103, 2 L.Ed. 49 (1801)

State v. Velez, 829 N.W.2d 572, 585 (Iowa 2013)

United States v. Chambers, 291 U.S. 217 (1934)

Iowa Code 704, as amended (2017)

# II. APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED DUE TO THE LENGTH OF TIME FOR THE COURT TO ENTER A VERDICT.

### **Authorities**

State v. Hutton, 796 N.W.2d 898, 901 (Iowa 2011)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal from a verdict of guilty by the Court on or about August 29, 2017, as there was insufficient evidence to convict Fordyce of Voluntary Manslaughter, as Fordyce was justified in using self-defense and defense of others, the Court erred in failing to apply Iowa Code section 704, as amended, Iowa's Stand Your Ground law and Defendant's due process rights were violated by the Court's delayed ruling of almost one year from the close of trial.

Course of Proceedings: Appellant Steven William Fordyce Jr., hereinafter referred to as Fordyce, was charged by Trial Information with Murder in the First Degree. (App. p. 5). Fordyce waived his right to a jury trial via written waiver filed May 6, 2016 and confirmed on the record on the same day (App. p. 9). A non-jury trial began on August 2, 2016 through August 5, 2016, recessing for one week and recommencing on August 15, 2016, concluding on August 19, 2016. (App. p.15). On August 29, 2017, the Court found Fordyce guilty of Voluntary Manslaughter, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.4, a lesser included offense. (Order 8/29/17; App. p. 15). Sentencing was held October 23, 2017 and Fordyce was sentenced to an indeterminate term of ten years in prison, fined \$1000, surcharge and court costs and victim restitution of \$150,000. (App. p. 36). Fordyce filed a Motion for New Trial

and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, which was argued prior to the pronouncement of judgment and sentence. (App. p. 33). In Fordyce's request for New Trial or Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, he argued the Court denied him his right to Due Process and Equal Protection as the Court should have applied Iowa Code section 704, as amended, that he was denied a fair trial when the Court improperly excluded testimony of Defense expert Emanuel Kapelsohn, that he was denied a fair and speedy trial as it took the Court over 11 months to publish a verdict, that the verdict was contrary to the evidence, and that no legal judgment could be made. Fordyce filed a Notice of Appeal on the same day as judgment and sentence was pronounced, on October 23, 2017. (App. p. 40).

**Facts**: Pursuant to *State v. Bond*, 340 N.W.2d 276, 279 (Iowa 1983), The district court's findings of fact are binding upon the appellate court if supported by substantial evidence. Defendant agrees the trial courts findings of fact contained on pages 2 through 8 of the Court's Order are supported by substantial evidence. As such, the Defendant incorporates by reference for his statement of facts the trial court's findings of fact.

Additional facts will be discussed as pertinent to Fordyce's arguments.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Because this case involves the application of existing legal principles to the facts herein, transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)). However, one issue relating to a matter of law, Iowa Code section 704, as amended, known as the Stand Your Ground law, has not been considered by the Iowa Supreme Court, nor its applicability to cases such as this and is a matter of first impression. This issue also presents a substantial constitutional question as it relates to Stand Your Ground and the applicability of the defense of Justification and changing legal principles. This issue presents a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public importance, such that the Iowa Supreme Court should retain this appeal. Therefore, this case should remain in the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c), (d), and (f).

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT ACT IN SELF-DEFENSE.

<u>Standard of review</u>: Sufficiency of the evidence claims are reviewed for errors of law. *State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012). The Appellate Court will affirm the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal if the trial record contains substantial evidence supporting conviction. *State v. Shorter*, 893 N.W.2d 65, 70 (Iowa 2017). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State, and the Court will indulge "all reasonable

inferences that may be fairly drawn from the evidence." *State v Howse*, 875 N.W.2d 684, 688 (Iowa 2016)(quoting *State v. Showens*, 845 N.W.2d 436, 439 (Iowa 2014)). The Court will consider all evidence, both inculpatory and exculpatory. *State v. Thomas*, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997). "Evidence that raises only 'suspicion, speculation, or conjecture' is *not* substantial evidence." *Id.* (citing *State v. Randle*, 555 N.W.2d 666, 671 (Iowa 1996)). When reviewing a self-defense claim, we also view evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *See State v. Elam*, 328 N.W.2d 314, 319 (Iowa 1982). Additionally, the district court's findings of fact are binding upon the appellate court if supported by substantial evidence. *Bond*, 340 N.W.2d at 279.

<u>Preservation of error</u>: Fordyce preserved error by moving for judgment of acquittal at both the close of the State's evidence and at the conclusion of the trial (Transcript 8/5/16, p. 46, Transcript 8/18/16, p. 3-4; ), and filing a Motion for New Trial and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and by filing a Notice of Appeal (App p. 12, 33, 40).

### A. There is insufficient evidence presented showing Defense of Self or Others was not Justified.

The Appellate Court upholds a verdict if it is supported by substantial evidence, which is evidence that, when viewed in the light most favorable to

the State, can convince a rational jury that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d at 615. In analyzing whether a rational jury would be convinced, the Court considers all the record evidence and "all reasonable inferences that may fairly be drawn from the evidence." *Id.* (citing *State v. Keopasaeuth*, 645 N.W.2d 637, 640 (Iowa 2002)). We recognize the jury is free to reject any evidence and credit other evidence. *Id.* (citing *State v. Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006)). Thus, the same can be said for a bench trial, as opposed to the jury trial.

However, in a trial to the court, the trial court provides a "findings of fact" which provide a detailed account of what the trial court considered, believed, accepted and rejected. The ability to review findings of fact from a trial court determining the evidence accepted and rejected, allows this Court to review whether there was sufficient evidence to find a defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, but also to determine, based on the trial court's specific findings of fact in this case, whether the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt the Defendant's actions were not justified. When a jury renders a verdict, it is impossible to determine which facts the jury accepted and which it rejected; however, this is not the case in this matter. Therefore, this Court can now review the trial court's accepted and rejected facts, and make the determination the trial court is, in fact, incorrect and wrong, as the State failed to disprove justification of self-defense.

It is undisputed on August 14, 2015, Fordyce caused the death of Donald Harrington. Fordyce filed a claim of justification of self-defense and defense of others. (App. p. 7-8). The question in this case, is whether the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt he was not acting with justification. Justification is defined within the Iowa Model Jury Instructions (also as cited by the trial court):

A person may use reasonable force to prevent injury to a person, including Defendant. The use of this force is known as justification.

Reasonable force is only the amount of force a reasonable person would find necessary to use under the circumstances to prevent death or injury.

A person can use deadly force against another if it is reasonable to believe that such force is necessary to avoid injury or risk to one's life or safety or the life or safety of another, or it is reasonable to believe that such force is necessary to resist a like force or threat.

The State must prove the Defendant was not acting with justification.

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 400.1; Iowa Code section 704.1, 704.3, 704.4, 704.5, 704.7; State v. Stallings, 541 N.W.2d 855 (Iowa 1995).

A person is justified in using reasonable force if he reasonably believes the force is necessary to defend himself from any imminent use of unlawful force.

If the State has proved any one of the following elements, Defendant was not justified:

- 1. Defendant started or continued the incident which resulted in death.
- 2. An alternative course of action was available to Defendant.

- 3. Defendant did not believe he was in imminent danger of death or injury and the use of force was not necessary to save him.
- 4. Defendant did not have reasonable grounds for the belief.
- 5. The force used by Defendant was unreasonable.

Iowa Criminal Jury Instructions 400.2, Iowa Code sections 704.1, 704.3, State v. Elam, 328 N.W.2d 314, 317 and 319 (Iowa 1982).

If the State has proven any one of the items listed in 1 through 5, Fordyce would not be justified in his actions. These items the State must prove and must prove beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court concluded the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt Fordyce was not acting with justification as, while Donald had initiated the difficulties resulting in his death, the trial court also concluded Fordyce continued the incident when he came back and then followed his sister, Nikki, and friend, Katia. (Order 8/29/17, p. 15 App. p. 30). The trial court also concluded Nikki and Katia, not the Defendant initiated further escalation of tensions with Donald and Samantha and continued the events "set in motion initially by Donald." (Order 8/29/17, p. 15, App. p. 30). The trial court also concluded Fordyce had an alternative course of action by retreating. (Order 8/29/17, p. 15, App. p. 30). The trial court erred in finding the State proved both elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

### i. Fordyce did not start or continue the incident.

First, the evidence presented and found by the trial court, does not support the contention Fordyce started or continued this incident. In fact, the trial court specifically noted Donald initiated the difficulties by fingering Fordyce, otherwise known as "flipping the bird" or middle finger, over what appears to be Fordyce's minor child throwing fruit snacks over the fence onto the Harrington property. (Order 8/29/17, p. 3, App. p. 18). As Fordyce stopped his truck and was confused as to the reasoning of Donald's behavior, Donald came down off his porch and attempted to get into Fordyce's truck. (Order 8/29/17, p. 3, App p. 18). The trial court found after Donald was unsuccessful in getting into Fordyce's truck, he then attempted to provoke Fordyce into a fight by saying "Come on. You want to go?" (Order 8/29/17, p. 3, App p. 18). The trial court specifically concluded Donald to have initiated the encounter and was the aggressor.

(Order 8/29/17, p. 15, App p. 30).

The trial court then found credible evidence that after Fordyce drove away, Samantha flagged down two of her children's friends and instructed them to find her boys as she thought something was going to happen. (Order 8/29/17, p. 4, App p. 19). This was AFTER Fordyce drove away. (Order 8/29/17, p. 4, App. p. 19). Samantha's behavior of flagging down her children's friends indicates she believed more actions and aggression was

going to occur considering Donald's behavior. In fact, Donald attempted to call his brother, John, but was unable to reach him. (Order 8/29/17, p. 4, App p. 19). Thus, it is clear by both Samantha and Donald's actions, they did not believe the incident was over.

However, Fordyce's actions indicated this incident was over. Fordyce left the area in front of the Harrington residence, but did return to his sister's residence. This is not continuing the incident. The trial court's finding regarding the Defendant continuing the incident simply is not supported by the Court's own findings or substantial evidence even considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. The Court is misguided when it attempts to meld together two separate incidents into one incident. The Court made the following analysis and conclusion:

The Court initially considers whether the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant was not acting with justification when he shot Donald Harrington. The Court finds Donald initiated the difficulties which ultimately resulted in his death when he fingered the Defendant and attempted to get in the Defendant's truck. However, the Court also finds that the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that no matter what the Defendant's motivations may have been, the Defendant continued the incident when he came back and accompanied his sister and Katia when they confronted Samantha. The Court also finds that Nikki and Katia were both initiating a further escalation of tensions with Donald and Samantha, as well as continuing the course of events set in motion initially by Donald. (Order 8/29/17, p. 15, App. p. 30)

The above conclusion is neither supported by substantial evidence, nor the Courts own Findings of Fact:

The Court finds that Donald initiated this encounter and was the aggressor at the point the Defendant drove away. ... The Defendant drove up the street before doing a U-turn and returning to Nikki's house to warn her that her neighbor "went nuts." The Defendant drove his truck back down the street and parked on Nikki's lawn in front of her house. Nikki and her son's girlfriend, Katia Hoag, were seated on the front porch of Nikki's house. The Defendant rolled his window down to tell Nikki about what had just happened so she would have warning if any drama resulted with Donald and Samantha. Nikki and Katia Hoag ran next door to confront Samantha and Donald. The Defendant told his kids to stay in the truck before getting out of the truck to follow Nikki and Katia. The Defendant followed them because he was worried about what might happen. (Order 8/29/17; p. 4, App. p. 19).

These are clearly two separate incidents. The first incident involved Donald initiating the encounter at the truck. The Court found the credible evidence to be the Defendant leaving this incident without or continuing anything. Defendant then turned around to warn his sister, as any reasonable person would do, that Donald "went nuts." What does this incident prove? It proves the Defendant knows how to take an alternative course of action if it is available to him. As the Court found, at no time during the incident involving Donald attacking the truck did Defendant do anything of a provocative nature, and in fact fled when it looked like the situation was escalating. This incident was over.

A new incident began as, Nikki and Katia approached Samantha and Donald, with Nikki leading the way and Fordyce trailing behind her and Katia. (Order 8/29/17, p. 4, App p. 19). The trial court found Fordyce stood back as an observer and did not say anything or join in any of the arguing in any way. (Order 8/29/17, p. 4 App p. 19). Fordyce was near the property line but remained on Nikki's property the entire time. (Order 8/29/17, p. 4, App p. 19). While Samantha, Nikki and Katia interacted, the trial court found Donald was not concerned about this verbal argument; however, Donald did become upset when he saw Fordyce. (Order 8/29/17, p. 5, App p. 20). The trial court found Donald's angry behavior was directed at Fordyce, not at Nikki or Katia. (Order 8/29/17, p. 5, App p. 20). Donald moved toward Fordyce quickly and even Samantha testified Donald wanted to fight Fordyce. (Order 8/29/17, p. 5, App p. 20).

The trial court erred when it found Fordyce continued the incident and further erred when holding Fordyce responsible for Nikki and Katia's actions in initiating a further escalation of the event and furthering the course of actions set in motion initially by Donald. First and foremost, the trial court repeatedly found Donald initiated the encounter. Donald flipped the bird to Fordyce, Donald came off the porch attacking the Fordyce vehicle and trying to get inside the vehicle. Fordyce did not initiate this contact. Further,

Fordyce did not continue the incident by coming back over the property following Nikki and Katia.

While there is substantial evidence to show Nikki and Katia were involved in a verbal altercation, and may have been provoking the incident, The Court mistakenly transfers the initiation and Fordyce was not. continuation of Nikki and Katia to the Defendant. While it may negate his claim of defense of another because Nikki and Katia were the aggressors, that fact cannot negate his claim to defend himself. Under the Court's reasoning a person watching his friend get into a fight, even if his friend starts the fight, has no right to defend himself if the other participant in the altercation turns his attention to the person watching. Not only is this an absurd result, it is not supported by common sense. Defendant simply followed to make sure his sister would be ok, did nothing to escalate the situation, did not even speak, stood on his sister's property, and then has a 6' 3" 281 pound man charge him while saying "I will fucking kill you." To conclude because others instigated the incident negates Defendant's ability to defend himself, is misguided. (Transcript 8/5/16, p. 14-15).

Using the Courts own findings, the record is void of substantial evidence proving beyond a reasonable doubt Defendant continued the incident. This is the evidence found by the trial court and determined to be credible evidence. It is the State's responsibility to prove beyond a reasonable

doubt Fordyce initiated or continued the incident. Based on the facts found by the trial court, and in the light most favorable to the State, the State fails in this regard and the trial court erred in finding Fordyce continued any escalation.

# ii. Fordyce did not have an alternative course of action, nor the ability to retreat.

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