IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 17-1701

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

STEVE WILLIAM FORDYCE, JR.,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE DAVID P. ODEKIRK, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LINDA J. HINES**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[linda.hines@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:linda.hines@ag.iowa.gov)

BRIAN WILLIAMS  
Black Hawk County Attorney

BRAD WALZ  
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The State Proved Beyond a Reasonable Doubt that Fordyce Did Not Act in Self-Defense.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

Fordyce moved for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State’s case. Trial Tr. (8-5-2017) p. 46, line 1-p. 58, line 5. The district court reserved its ruling on the motion. Trial Tr. (8-5-2017) p. 64, line

15-19. The State agrees that Fordyce preserved error on the issue of whether the State disproved his defense by filing a motion prior to the district court's verdict. *See State v. Abbas*, 561 N.W.2d 72, 74 (Iowa 1997) (when "criminal case is tried to the court, a defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal irrespective of whether a motion for judgment of acquittal was previously made").

The State also agrees that Fordyce generally preserved error on the issue of whether amended Iowa Code section 704.3 should apply to his case because he raised the issue in a post-trial motion and obtained the district court's ruling on it. Motion to Apply ICS 704 as Amended, Order (8-29-2017) unnum. pp. 9-10; Conf. App. 12, 23-24. Frankly, as a sufficiency-of-the-evidence question, if the statute applied to the case at hand the court would have a duty to consider it when entering its verdict. Further, although Fordyce did make an equal protection challenge in his post-trial motion, the district court's ruling does not specifically address this argument. Motion to Apply ICS 704 as Amended, Order (8-29-2017), unnum. p. 9; Conf. App. 12, 23. Because Fordyce did not file an Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.904 motion to expand the district court's ruling, he has failed to preserve error on this particular argument.

## Standard of Review

Review of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is on assigned error. *State v. McPhillips*, 580 N.W.2d 748, 753 (Iowa 1998). The reviewing court will uphold the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal if there is substantial evidence in the record to support the defendant's conviction. *Id.* at 752. Substantial evidence is evidence that could convince a trier of fact that the defendant is guilty of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Crone*, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996). In determining whether there is sufficient evidence, the court considers all the evidence. *State v. Robinson*, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980). However, the court views the evidence in a light most favorable to the State and makes all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence. *McPhillips*, 580 N.W.2d at 752.

The issue of whether the district court erred in failing to apply amended Iowa Code section 704.3 involves an issue of statutory interpretation. Review is for errors at law. *See State v. Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d 124, 134 (Iowa 2018).

## **Merits**

Fordyce argues that the State failed to disprove his justification defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Additionally, Fordyce contends the district court erred in denying his request to apply amended Iowa Code section 704.3 in considering his justification defense.

### **A. The State Disproved Fordyce’s Justification Defense Beyond a Reasonable Doubt.**

“A person is justified in the use of reasonable force when the person reasonably believes that such force is necessary to defend oneself or another from any imminent use of unlawful force.” Iowa Code § 704.3 (2015). “When the defense is raised, the burden rests upon the State to prove --beyond a reasonable doubt-- that the alleged justification did not exist.” *State v. Rubino*, 602 N.W.2d 558, 565 (Iowa 1999).

“The State can meet its burden by proving any of the following facts: 1. The defendant initiated or continued the incident resulting in injury; or 2. The defendant did not believe he was in imminent danger of death or injury and that the use of force was not necessary to save him; or 3. The defendant had no reasonable grounds for such belief; or 4. The force used was unreasonable.” *Id.*

The district court correctly found that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Fordyce

*continued the incident* when he came back and accompanied his sister and Katia when they confronted Samantha. The Court also finds that Nikki and Katia were both initiating a further escalation of tensions with Donald and Samantha, as well as continuing the course of events set in motion initially by Donald.

The Court further finds the State has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant *could have pursued an alternative course of action by retreating sooner* once he was aware that Donald was coming toward him. There were no obstacles which would have prevented the Defendant's retreat. He could have done this without endangering himself or anyone else. The Court finds that the Defendant could not have reasonably believed Nikki, Katia or his children were in imminent danger of death or injury at the time he fired the shots. In fact, the Defendant acknowledged at one point during his interview with Officer Gergen that he just wanted to get out of there. Donald had focused his hostilities on the Defendant and there is no evidence that he posed a threat of any kind to the other persons in the immediate vicinity.

Order (8-29-2017) unnum. p. 15 (Emphasis added); Conf. App. 29.

Fordyce argues that the district court erred in finding he continued the incident by following Nikki and Katia to the property line where *they* engaged in an argument with Samantha and Donald. Moreover, Fordyce contends the district court erred in finding an alternative course of action was available to him. He maintains the threat Donald presented was too grave to leave Nikki and Katia alone with him. Further, he argues that if he had retreated, he would have placed his children, who were in his truck, in danger of being hurt by Donald, who might pursue him.

The State's evidence set the scene of the events leading to Fordyce's decision to shoot Donald. This homicide occurred on an early summer evening in a residential neighborhood. Neighbors Samantha and Nikki had feuded with each other in the past. However, Donald was merely a visitor at Samantha's house and Fordyce had not had any encounters with Donald prior to that evening.

Fordyce drove away from Nikki's house but chose to return to tell her there might be "drama" with the neighbors. State's Exhibit H. Fordyce, carrying his gun, well aware that Donald was agitated, then exited his truck and followed Nikki and Katia to the property line.

Therefore, as the district court found, this is one instance of Fordyce continuing the incident.

Additionally, Fordyce continued the incident when he grasped the gun in his pocket to indicate its presence and his silent threat to use it. By making the fateful decision to display his gun, Fordyce continued the incident and increased Donald's agitation.

Fordyce's contention that he could not have retreated is not credible for several reasons. First, he could have simply kept driving and never returned to the property. Second, Fordyce's children were in his truck, which was parked in front of Nikki's house and some distance away from the property line. State's Exhibit A-4. Fordyce never had to approach Donald. Next, as the district court found, the evidence was convincing that Donald did not appear to be angry with anyone but Fordyce; therefore, had Fordyce simply walked away, there is no reasonable likelihood that he would have left Nikki and Katia at risk of being assaulted by Donald.

Finally, although the district court did not make a specific finding, the State argued at trial, and maintains now, that it proved that the force used by Fordyce was unreasonable. Trial Tr. (8-5-2017) p. 63, lines 3-11. Fordyce did not believe Donald was armed. State's

Exhibit H. Rather, Fordyce told police he was intimidated by Donald's size and believed Donald was under the influence of alcohol or a drug. State's Exhibit H.

In fact, Donald was not legally intoxicated and was not under the influence of drugs. The evidence shows that Donald was unarmed. Trial Tr. p. 71, line 11-p. 2, p. 89, lines 2-8. During his police interview, Fordyce never asserted he believed Donald had a weapon on him. State's Exhibit H. Fordyce claimed Donald was a big man; however, the State presented evidence that although large, Donald was not necessarily muscular or agile. Donald was six-feet three inches and weighed approximately 281 pounds; he was described as "fat." Trial Tr. (8-5-2017) p. 14, line 21-p. 15, line 1, Trial Tr. (8-2-2018) p. 52, line 24-p. 53, line 13, p. 57, line 23-p. 58, line 11.

Fordyce shot his gun four times directly at Donald who was within two to six feet of him. Trial Tr. (8-2-2016) p. 85, line 15-p. 86, line 1. The bullets he used were hollow point, meant to inflict massive damage. Trial Tr. (8-3-2017) p. 151, line 8-p. 152, line 20. Again, this was a dispute between neighbors that was apparently not uncommon. State's Exhibit H, Trial Tr. (8-2-2017) p. 116, lines 4-5, 9-10. Even if Fordyce's version of events, describing Donald as coming towards

him, is to be credited, Fordyce used unreasonable force in responding to Donald by shooting to kill.

The district court determined the State had not proved Fordyce committed first or second-degree murder. Order (8-29-2017) unnum. pp. 9-10; Conf. App. 23-24. However, it did find the State had disproved Fordyce's justification defense. Fordyce exercised terrible judgment in continuing the incident with Donald and failing to retreat when there was no impediment to doing so. Fordyce chose to stay and shoot a threatening but unarmed neighbor at his first, allegedly, aggressive movement.<sup>5</sup>

**B. The District Court Did Not Err or Violate Fordyce's Due Process Rights When it Denied His Request to Apply Amended Iowa Code section 704.3**

Fordyce contends the district court erred in refusing to apply amended Iowa Code section 704.3 retroactively to his case. In discussing the 2017 amendment, one commentator explained the amendment's:

first change was to delete the existing language regarding alternative course of action. Additional provisions to the statute

---

<sup>5</sup> Samantha testified that Donald had his phone in hand and had his arms out to his side immediately before he was shot. Trial Tr. p. 89, lines 2-20.

were made for the erroneous estimation of the danger presented and or force necessary as long as there is a “reasonable basis for the belief” and the person acts “reasonably in the response” to the perceived threat. Significantly, the amendment provides a person does not have a duty to retreat as long as a person “is not engaged in illegal activity” and is in a place where they were “lawfully present.”

4 Ia. Prac., Criminal Law § 2:21 (2017-2018 ed.) (footnotes omitted).

The amendment was effective July 1, 2017.

Iowa Code section 4.5 provides that “[a] statute is presumed to be prospective in its operation unless expressly made retrospective.” The legislature did not make its revisions to chapter 704 retroactive—indeed, it did not even include those revisions to chapter 704 in its list of provisions that it “deemed of immediate importance” that would be given effect upon enactment, rather than waiting until July 1, 2017. *See* 2017 Iowa Acts ch. 69, § 50; Iowa Code § 3.7(1); *see also* Iowa Code § 4.5 (“A statute is presumed to be prospective in its operation unless expressly made retrospective.”). The legislature’s decision not to make “stand your ground” provisions effective upon enactment is an indisputably unambiguous expression of legislative intent to make those defenses unavailable for shootings that occur between the enactment date and the default effective date.

Further, Iowa Code section 4.13(1) provides that “[t]he reenactment, revision, amendment, or repeal of a statute does not affect ... the prior operation of the statute or any prior action taken under the statute.” Iowa Code § 4.13(1)(a). “It is a well-settled law that substantive amendments to criminal statutes do not apply retroactively.” *State v. Harrison*, 914 N.W.2d 178, 205 (Iowa 2018). “[T]he statute in force at the time of the commission of an offense governs the character of the offense and, generally, the punishment prescribed thereby.” *State v. Chrisman*, 514 N.W.2d 57, 63 (Iowa 1994) (citing *State ex rel. Abrogast v. Mohn*, 260 S.E.2d 820, 824 (W.Va. 1979)). Section 4.13 “gives a defendant the benefit of a more lenient sentence; it does not require that the characterization of the crime of which he is convicted be changed.” *See Chrisman*, 514 N.W.2d at 63; *see also Harrison*, 914 N.W.2d at 205.

Iowa had no “stand your ground” justification defense in effect at the time of the 2015 shooting; therefore, the district court did not err in finding Fordyce was not entitled to have amended section 704.3 apply to his case.

Fordyce next contends that the rule of lenity requires application of Iowa Code section 704.3 as amended. “The rule of

lenity requires that ambiguous statutes imposing criminal liability be strictly construed in favor of the defendant.” *State v. Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d 577, 585 (Iowa 2011). Because the statute is not ambiguous about its retroactive application, there is no need to invoke the rule of lenity.

Finally, Fordyce mentions his equal protection rights were violated by the district court’s determination not to apply the amended section 704.3 to his justification defense. “The essential promise of equal protection is that “all persons similarly situated should be treated alike.” *Clayton v. Iowa Dist. Court for Scott Cty.*, 907 N.W.2d 824, 827 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald*, 675 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2004)).

However, as a preliminary matter, Fordyce is not similarly situated with those people who invoke a justification defense for an offense committed *after* the statute became effective. *See State v. Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 882 (Iowa 2009) (“[I]f plaintiffs cannot show as a preliminary matter that they are similarly situated, courts do not further consider whether their different treatment under a statute is permitted under the equal protection clause.”).

The district court did not err in denying Fordyce's request to apply amended section 704.3.

**II. The District Court Did Not Violate Fordyce's Right to Due Process by Returning a Verdict Almost One Year after Trial.**

**Preservation of Error**

Fordyce filed a motion for new trial in which, among other things, he argued the district court's delay in issuing its verdict violated his right to due process under the Iowa and United States Constitutions. Motion for New Trial; Conf. App. 33. The district court denied the motion and specifically found Fordyce's due process rights were not violated by the length of time between trial and the verdict. Sentencing Tr. p. 16, line 23-p. 17, line 13. The State agrees Fordyce preserved error on this issue.

**Standard of Review**

Constitutional claims are reviewed de novo. *State v. Keys*, 535 N.W.2d 783, 786 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995).

**Merits**

Fordyce argues that the length of time between his trial, ending in August 2016, and the district court's August 29, 2017 guilty verdict violated his due process rights under the United States and Iowa Constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. V and XIV, Iowa Const. art. I, §§ 1,

9, and 10. Specifically, Fordyce maintains that his constitutional right to “a fair and speedy trial” was violated. Appellant’s Br. p. 23.

In denying Fordyce’s due process challenge, the district court acknowledged that its decision took “a lengthy amount of time” and “more time than” it would have wanted in rendering its verdict.

However, it explained:

I do note for the purposes of this record that the Court’s findings of fact were done actually within several weeks of the completion and submission of the trial. It was the consideration and the analysis of the law as to those facts which ended up taking additional time and, in fact, in this case, I can assure both parties that the Court spent a great deal – amount of time wrestling with the application of the law in this case to the evidence that was presented. And so if anything, I believe the Court has afforded complete and full due process to the defendant in every respect as far as consideration of the evidence and the application – the Court’s application of the law in this case.

Sentencing Tr. p. 16, line 23-p. 17, line 13.

Fordyce does not cite any case law in support of his contention that a delay between trial and the district court’s verdict may result in a violation of a defendant’s right to due process or speedy trial. The

State was unable to locate any case in which the length of time between a bench trial and a verdict was found to violate due process.<sup>6</sup>

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